

UNIVERSITY OF WEST GEORGIA

Institutional Review Board (IRB) University of West Georgia

Guidelines for the Review of Research Involving Human Subjects

Guidelines for the Review of Research Involving Human Subjects

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	3
A. Institutional Review Board (IRB) Statement of Purpose	3
B. Regulations	3
The Common Rule	3
Code of Federal Regulations	4
International Conference on Harmonization (ICH)	4
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) – EU and the United Kingdom	4
State Regulations	4
Institutional (UWG) Rules	5
Individual Responsibilities	5
II. Education and Training	6
A. CITI Access	7
B. Good Clinical Practice (GCP)	7
III. Institutional Review Board (IRB) Process	7
A. The Review Process	8
Initial Review	8
Decisions of the IRB	8
Dissemination of IRB decisions	9
B. Procedures to Initiate Review10	0
C. Categories of Review10	0
Exempt Review10	0
Expedited Review14	4
Full Board Review1	6
Continuing Review of Research10	6
D. Monitoring and Oversight1	7
Continuing Oversight1	7
Study Closure	9

F. Human Subject Research without Prior IRB review	19
G. Evaluating Investigator and Institutional Issues	21
H. Investigator's Right of Appeal	21
I. Student Research and Faculty Responsibility	21
J. Considerations for Special Populations	22
A. Research involving pregnant women, human fetuses, or neonates	22
B. Research involving prisoners	23
C. Research involving children	23
IV. Informed Consent Guidelines	25
A. Elements of Informed Consent	26
B. Procedure to waive signed consent	27
Waiver of Parental Permission:	27
V. The Institutional Review Board Management and Responsibilities	28
V. The Institutional Review Board Management and Responsibilities A. Membership	
	28
A. Membership	28
A. Membership Use of Consultants	28 28 28
A. Membership Use of Consultants Conflicts of Interest	
 A. Membership. Use of Consultants. Conflicts of Interest. B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines 	28 28 28 28 28 29
 A. Membership. Use of Consultants. Conflicts of Interest. B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines Voting. 	28 28 28 28 28 28 29 29 29
 A. Membership Use of Consultants. Conflicts of Interest. B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines Voting. Minutes 	28 28 28 28 28 28 29 29 29 29
 A. Membership. Use of Consultants. Conflicts of Interest. B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines Voting. Minutes Record Retention 	28 28 28 28 28 29 29 29 29 29 30
 A. Membership. Use of Consultants. Conflicts of Interest. B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines Voting. Minutes. Record Retention C. IRB Reporting Structure 	28 28 28 28 28 29 29 29 29 30 30

I. Introduction

A. Institutional Review Board (IRB) Statement of Purpose

The IRB is responsible for protecting the rights and welfare of human subjects participating in research projects. The IRB acts according to policies set forth by the United States Department of Health and Human Services. Compliance with these federal regulations not only safeguards human subjects and the institution sponsoring the research project, but also protects the researcher. The University of West Georgia (UWG) operates by DHHS-assigned Federal Wide Assurance (FWA) number <u>00005615</u>

Any research that involves human subjects, whether funded internally or from extramural sources, or not funded, that is undertaken by UWG faculty, staff or students, supported by or conducted at the University of West Georgia, must be reviewed and approved by the IRB prior to soliciting subjects or collecting data from any human subjects. The IRB defines research as a systematic investigation (i.e. having or involving a system, method, or plan) conducted to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge about the human experience.

While the IRB is empowered to review and approve (or disapprove) research involving human subjects, the protection of research subjects from unnecessary or unacceptable risks is a university-wide responsibility. The primary responsibility for the responsible conduct of research falls on the investigators (faculty, faculty associates, academic staff, graduate students, undergraduates, technicians, etc.) who are conducting the research. However, other persons not involved directly (faculty colleagues, department reviewers, department heads, deans, etc.) share in the responsibility to establish and maintain an atmosphere where respect for the rights of individuals and compliance with applicable regulations is the standard.

B. Regulations

Regulations, built on the ethical principles of research govern much of the research conducted in the United States and *all* research and training involving human subjects at the University of West Georgia. This section provides an overview of the regulatory framework governing institutions, IRBs, and researchers.

The Common Rule

The Common Rule is a federal policy regarding Human Subjects Protection that applies to 17 Federal agencies and offices. The main elements of the Common Rule include: a) Requirements for assuring compliance by research institutions; b) Requirements for researchers' obtaining and documenting informed consent; and c) Requirements for Institutional Review Board (IRB) membership, function, operations, review of research, and record keeping.

Code of Federal Regulations

The Code of Federal Regulations is a compendium of all federal regulations in the United States. Each federal agency has a Title number; and within each Title, there are chapters and parts. For human subjects' protection in research, the most relevant are 45CFR46, 21CFR50, and 21CFR56.

<u>45CFR46</u> set forth regulations governing research funded by the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).

<u>21CFR50</u> and <u>21CFR56</u> set forth the regulations governing research funded by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)

International Conference on Harmonization (ICH)

A movement toward international GCP standards has occurred over the last few years. The ICH, an effort involving the U.S., the European Union, and Japan, published a guideline for Good Clinical Practice. This worldwide document offers uniform standards in clinical studies, definitions of safety and efficacy, manufacturing, and approval.

<u>General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)</u> – EU and the United Kingdom

GDPR is a European law that establishes data protections for privacy and security of <u>personal</u> <u>data</u> about individuals located in the European Economic Area (EEA). Specifically, the EEA includes the following countries:

Austria	Estonia	Ireland	Netherlands	Spain
Belgium	Finland	Italy	Norway	Sweden
Bulgaria	France	Latvia	Poland	United Kingdom
Croatia	Germany	Liechtenstein	Portugal	
Czech Republic	Greece	Lithuania	Romania	
Cyprus	Hungary	Luxembourg	Slovakia	
Denmark	Iceland	Malta	Slovenia	

Data collected (including interviews and surveys) from subjects in any of these countries must meet the established Data Protection Regulations. Additional procedures regarding consent and storage of data must be used.

State Regulations

Each federal regulation makes clear that compliance with the federal regulations will not conflict with pertinent state or local laws or regulations.

Georgia's legislature has enacted several laws that set additional legal requirements.

Age of Consent

The basic age of consent for participation in research is 18, which is also the age at which Georgians may enter contracts or consent to medical services. Parental permission must be sought for subjects under 18; exceptions to this requirement may only be granted by the IRB. Participants must be of legal age in the jurisdiction where the research will be conducted.

Legally Authorized Representative

State as well as federal rules allow consent to be granted, under specific circumstances, by a legally authorized representative instead of by the subject (e.g., parent for a minor).

Emancipated Minor

Georgia law recognizes the concept of the "emancipated minor". An emancipated minor is a person under the age of 18 who is nevertheless considered to be an adult and therefore able to consent for themselves. Special precautions need to be taken to ensure that the participant is, in fact, an emancipated minor.

Institutional (UWG) Rules

Although federal rules define the national minimum standard, implementation is at the local level. Each institution responds in its unique way to the basic requirements.

The Federal-Wide Assurance of Compliance (FWA) forms the basic set of rules for University of West Georgia's institutional program for the protection of human subjects. The information in the FWA is further refined by this Human Subjects Manual, the Faculty Handbook, and various other UWG documents reflecting the institutional culture.

Individual Responsibilities

Every person involved in research – subjects, the Vice President for Innovation & Research (VPIR), the IRB Chair, the IRB Staff, Principal Investigators, Faculty Sponsors, Student/Staff Researchers, Research Coordinators, Contract Research Organizations, and Sponsors – should understand his or her role on a project in light of the ethical principles described above.

A. Subjects

Subjects may be employees, students, or individuals unaffiliated with the university. As well as privileges, subjects have responsibilities: to tell the truth, to ask for clarification, to follow the protocol, to notify the study personnel of their non-compliance, and to tell the researchers if they wish to withdraw from the study.

B. Principal Investigators (PI)

The PI will ensure that the PI, co-investigators, research assistants and staff are all properly trained in all aspects of the protocol and that anyone working on the project, UWG faculty, staff, students, and subcontractors will have completed CITI training prior to beginning work on the project. For any research involving human subjects, the PI will submit application materials for IRB review prior to beginning any work on the project and before contacting any human subjects. Any proposed changes to an approved project will be immediately sent to the IRB for review prior to implementing any changes. The PI is responsible for:

- 1. Submitting documents in a timely manner for initial approval, modification and/or continuing review;
- 2. Obtaining legal effective informed consent. The PI is responsible for obtaining and documenting signed consent unless a waiver of documentation of informed consent is approved by the IRB. Participants should be provided with a copy of the informed consent, or instructions to print and retain a copy. When providing consent online,

there are a number of ways in which an e-signature might be documented. Some examples include:

- a. Attaching a scanned handwritten signature or using an e-signature service such as Adobe's EchoSign;
- b. Typing one's name with an accompanying check box and statement noting an intent to affix a legal signature (e.g., "By checking this box and typing my name below, I am electronically signing this consent form"); or
 c. Signing with a stylus in an electronic document.

All constitute "signatures." A waiver of documentation of informed consent is not required for these procedures.

- 3. Retaining all study records for a minimum of three years following completion of the study.
- 4. Promptly report any injuries, unanticipated problems, or complaints regarding the research to the IRB; and
- 5. The investigator is required to submit a Research Completion Form summarizing the study and results to close their project with the IRB. This form will be filed with the original application in the Office of Research & Sponsored Projects. If the PI is a student, the faculty advisor is responsible for ensuring the form is submitted.

C. Institutional Review Board (IRB)

The primary purpose of the committee is to ensure that human subjects are not placed at undue risk of harm during the research process.

A balance between freedom of inquiry for scholars and recognition of the ethical concerns of peers, subjects, sponsors, government agencies, and the public at large shall be maintained by the IRB. The members of the IRB maintain that numerous issues tied to human research merit much further attention by the academic community. The IRB strongly encourages faculty, academic staff members, student groups, departments, schools, and colleges to discuss the ethical responsibilities of scholars as they apply to research to ensure awareness and sensitivity of subjects' needs.

D. Institutional Official

The Institutional Official signs the Federal-Wide Assurance of Compliance on behalf of the institution and has the authority to determine the practices within that institution. This person is responsible for assuring that the program is functional, adequately staffed and funded, and respected in the research community.

The Vice President for Innovation and Research is UWG's Institutional Official.

II. Education and Training

All individuals engaged in research involving human participants must complete educational programs related to human subjects protections and the responsible conduct of research prior to initiation of a research project. The University of West Georgia has selected the <u>Collaborative</u>

<u>Institutional Training Initiative</u> (CITI) as the best and most efficient mechanism for delivering education to UWG researchers involved with human subjects research. CITI is an on-line educational training course that provides relevant, up-to-date information on the protection of human research subjects in the format of instructional modules. The training is required for the Principal Investigator (PI), Co-Investigators, Student PI, and other key personnel who are responsible for the design and/or conduct of the study. The requirement also applies to sub-contractors, consultants, individual fellowship applicants, study coordinators, and persons who conduct procedures or conduct health or opinion surveys or interviews.

IRB - IRB members receive orientation to the responsibilities of IRB service. All IRB members are also encouraged to attend an annual training/educational workshop to enhance their knowledge on IRB issues and procedures as well as completing the CITI training course. In addition, educational updates are routinely provided at IRB meetings.

A. CITI Access

To begin the course, please <u>register</u> as being affiliated with UWG and create a member profile. Anyone conducting Human Subject Research is required to complete the Responsible Conduct of Research module as well as the Human Subjects Research module aligned with their discipline.

Proposals will not be reviewed until all members of your research team have completed the CITI training and training completion is documented in the IRB office. A passing rate of 80% is required for certification. Certifications must be renewed every **three** years.

B. Good Clinical Practice (GCP)

The FDA has a series of regulations setting the minimum requirements for principal investigators, researchers, and sponsors. These include rules about drug accountability, source documentation, adverse event reporting and safety reports, responsibilities of sponsors and monitors, monitoring of study activity, data integrity, and financial conflicts. Taken together this set of requirements is known as Good Clinical Practice (GCP). All researchers conducting regulated research should be conversant in GCPs.

III. Institutional Review Board (IRB) Process

The IRB has the following written policies and procedures for conducting initial and continuing review and procedures for handling modification to research studies. All new human subject research, and modifications to approved research (except when the modification is necessary to eliminate apparent immediate hazards to participants), must be previously reviewed by the IRB. In addition, no previously approved human subject research may be extended beyond the IRB approved expiration date without continuing review approval by the IRB.

Prior to the execution of any research involving human subjects, investigators shall have completed the mandated education described under "Education in the Responsible Conduct of Research" in this document and completed review by the IRB.

A. The Review Process

Initial Review

The IRB reviews applications for research in accordance with federal regulations governing research with human subjects. The Board may also apply such codes of professional ethics as it deems appropriate. These additional codes may or may not be addressed in federal documents. It is the policy of The University of West Georgia that for any research application to be approved, the Board must determine that all the following requirements are satisfied:

- Risks to subjects are minimized (i) by using procedures which are consistent with sound research design and which do not unnecessarily expose subjects to risk; and (ii) whenever appropriate, by using procedures already being performed on the subjects for diagnostic or treatment purposes;
- 2. Risks to subjects are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits, if any, to the subjects and the importance of the knowledge that may be reasonably expected to result;
- 3. Selection of subjects is equitable given the purposes and the setting of the research,
- Appropriate informed consent will be sought from each prospective subject or the subject's legally authorized representative, and such consent will be appropriately documented (see Informed Consent Guidelines below);
- 5. The research plan makes appropriate provision for monitoring the data collected to insure the safety of subjects;
- 6. Appropriate provisions are made to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of data;
- Where some or all of the subjects are likely to be vulnerable to coercion or undue influence, appropriate additional safeguards have been included to protect the rights and welfare of these subjects; and
- 8. When research involves pregnant women, fetuses, or neonates; prisoners; or children, the research satisfies the additional requirements for IRB approval under HHS regulations at subpart B, C, or D respectively, of 45CFR46. *See section on Informed Consent*.

The IRB may process a protocol in one of three ways:

- By exemption determination
- By expedited review
- By full review

Any research protocol which does not fall under the category definitions of exempted or expedited research as outlined below, or any protocol as specifically requested by the Board, shall undergo full review.

Decisions of the IRB

In reviewing research proposals for initial review, continuing review and protocol changes undergoing review, the IRB has the authority to make the following decisions:

Approved - Approved as written with no conditions.

Approved with Modification - Approved with modifications for minor changes that will be identified to the PI and must be completed and documented prior to beginning the research. A

letter requesting the necessary, specific, modifications is sent to the PI. The PI must make the required modifications and submit them to the IRB. For these modifications, the IRB Chair or designated reviewer can, upon reviewing the PI's response(s), approve the research on behalf of the IRB.

Deferred - Generally, the protocol or consent form has deficiencies that prevent accurate determination of risks and benefits or requires significant clarifications, modifications or conditions that, when met or addressed, require full IRB review and approval of the PI's responses and revisions. The deficiencies will be specified to the PI. The PIs responses will be reviewed at the next convened meeting of the IRB.

Disapproved - The protocol describes a research activity that is deemed to have risks which outweigh potential benefits or the protocol is significantly deficient in several major areas.

Suspended- All protocols must be ceased immediately upon notification of IRB, and not resume until further notice by IRB. The PI should address the contingencies promptly. Once the PI receives notice that a study is suspended, the PI will have ten (10) days to correct contingencies outlined in the suspension notice and to report in writing to the IRB how contingencies are corrected. If the IRB receives no response within the ten days of issuing the contingencies, the IRB chairperson shall write a memo to the PI inquiring as to whether he/she intends to continue the protocol. Also, the inquiry shall state that lack of a written response within a two-week period will result in discontinuation of the protocol. The IRB will be kept informed on the non-compliance with contingencies and the administrative actions taken.

Once IRB reviews the written corrections, the PI will be notified in writing of the decision to submit further corrections, resume the study, or to terminate the study.

Termination - All protocols must be ceased immediately upon notification of IRB, and not resumed. It is the responsibility of the PI to notify all subjects as to the cessation of the study, and reasons for doing so. Written copies of subject notifications must be submitted to the IRB within one month of notification of study termination.

Dissemination of IRB decisions

Upon review by the Board, the office of the IRB Administrator shall notify the PI by email of the Board's decision within 48 hours of review. The notification will state conditions which must be met, if approval is to be awarded. Approval will not be granted until all specified conditions are met. The letter shall also:

- 1. Advise the PI to notify the IRB immediately, and in writing, if there are any subsequent changes proposed in the research protocol. No changes may be initiated without IRB review and approval.
- 2. Indicate the period for which approval is valid.
- 3. If require by the IRB, the PI shall complete an application for continuing review.
- 4. Direct that during the course of the research, should an adverse event occur which threatens the health, safety or emotional well-being of a participant, or which increases the risks to subjects from that described in the approval documents for the project, the PI must

suspend the research immediately and report the incident to the IRB Administrator. The IRB Administrator will investigate and determine the course of action to follow.

The IRB Administrator will retain a copy of the IRB decision for the IRB files and send copies to the PI.

B. Procedures to Initiate Review

Prior to the execution of any research involving human subjects, investigators shall have completed the mandated CITI education training program, and they shall have completed and submitted to the IRB Administrator a copy of the IRB Application form, a copy of the proposed informed consent statement, all recruitment materials (emails, flyers, etc.) and data collection instruments.

Initial Review Materials

Materials should be submitted with sufficient detail for the IRB to make decisions regarding: a) risk; b) potential benefits; c) informed consent; and d) safeguards for human subjects.

Materials should include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Initial IRB Application, required
- 2. Proposed informed consent document, required
- 3. Letter(s) of Approval from cooperating entities (e.g. Letter from district or principal if conducting research in schools, letter from hospital administration)
- 4. Recruitment materials for subjects, required
- 5. Investigators brochure (a comprehensive document summarizing the body of information about an investigational product), if one exists
- 6. If study is supported by the Department of Health & Human Services, a copy of the HHS approved sample, informed consent form, and HHS protocol, if they exist.

C. Categories of Review

Exempt Review

Certain categories of research protocols may be exempt from review. Only the IRB Chair, Committee member, or IRB Administrator is authorized to determine which protocols may be subject to limited review or may be exempt from review by the Board. Investigators who believe that their research meets the following criteria may request exempt status for their study when it is submitted to the Board, and list the justification. The IRB reserves the authority to require proposal modifications regarding human subject protection before approving the research as exempt.

Note that the exemption DOES NOT APPLY when the research activities include:

- 1. Prisoners, fetuses, pregnant women or human in-vitro fertilization.
- 2. The review of medical records when the information is recorded in such a way that subjects can be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.
- 3. Techniques which expose the subject to more than minimal risk.
- 4. The deception of the subject unless the subject is informed that they will be unaware or misled regarding the nature or purpose of the research prior to agreeing to participate.

Exempt Categories

The federal categories of research eligible for exemption certification under 45 CFR 101(b) are as follows:

- Research, conducted in established or commonly accepted educational settings, that specifically involves normal educational practices that are not likely to adversely impact students' opportunity to learn required educational content or the assessment of educators who provide instruction. This includes most research on regular and special education instructional strategies, and research on the effectiveness of or the comparison among instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods.
- Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:
 - i. The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects;
 - Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or
 - iii. The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by <u>§46.111(a)(7)</u>.
- 3. (i) **Research involving benign behavioral interventions** in conjunction with the collection of information from an adult subject through verbal or written responses (including data entry) or audiovisual recording if the subject prospectively agrees to the intervention and information collection and at least one of the following criteria is met:
 - A. The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects;
 - B. Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or
 - C. The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an

IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by $\frac{646.111(a)}{7}$.

(ii) For the purpose of this provision, benign behavioral interventions are brief in duration, harmless, painless, not physically invasive, not likely to have a significant adverse lasting impact on the subjects, and the investigator has no reason to think the subjects will find the interventions offensive or embarrassing. Provided all such criteria are met, examples of such benign behavioral interventions would include having the subjects play an online game, having them solve puzzles under various noise conditions, or having them decide how to allocate a nominal amount of received cash between themselves and someone else.

(iii) If the research involves deceiving the subjects regarding the nature or purposes of the research, this exemption is not applicable unless the subject authorizes the deception through a prospective agreement to participate in research in circumstances in which the subject is informed that he or she will be unaware of or misled regarding the nature or purposes of the research.

- 4. Secondary research for which consent is not required: Secondary research uses of identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens, if at least one of the following criteria is met:
 - i. The identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens are publicly available;
 - ii. Information, which may include information about biospecimens, is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, the investigator does not contact the subjects, and the investigator will not re-identify subjects;
 - iii. The research involves only information collection and analysis involving the investigator's use of identifiable health information when that use is regulated under 45 CFR parts 160 and 164, subparts A and E, for the purposes of "health care operations" or "research" as those terms are defined at 45 CFR 164.501 or for "public health activities and purposes" as described under 45 CFR 164.512(b); or
 - iv. The research is conducted by, or on behalf of, a Federal department or agency using government-generated or government-collected information obtained for nonresearch activities, if the research generates identifiable private information that is or will be maintained on information technology that is subject to and in compliance with section 208(b) of the E-Government Act of 2002, 44 U.S.C. 3501 note, if all of the identifiable private information collected, used, or generated as part of the activity will be maintained in systems of records subject to the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a, and, if applicable, the information

used in the research was collected subject to the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995, 44 U.S.C. 3501 et seq.

- 5. Research and demonstration projects that are conducted or supported by a Federal department or agency, or otherwise subject to the approval of department or agency heads (or the approval of the heads of bureaus or other subordinate agencies that have been delegated authority to conduct the research and demonstration projects), and that are designed to study, evaluate, improve, or otherwise examine public benefit or service programs, including procedures for obtaining benefits or services under those programs, possible changes in or alternatives to those programs or procedures, or possible changes in methods or levels of payment for benefits or services under those programs. Such projects include, but are not limited to, internal studies by Federal employees, and studies under contracts or consulting arrangements, cooperative agreements, or grants. Exempt projects also include waivers of otherwise mandatory requirements using authorities such as sections 1115 and 1115A of the Social Security Act, as amended.
 - i. Each Federal department or agency conducting or supporting the research and demonstration projects must establish, on a publicly accessible Federal Web site or in such other manner as the department or agency head may determine, a list of the research and demonstration projects that the Federal department or agency conducts or supports under this provision. The research or demonstration project must be published on this list prior to commencing the research involving human subjects.
- 6. (6) Taste and food quality evaluation and consumer acceptance studies:
 - i. If wholesome foods without additives are consumed, or
 - ii. If a food is consumed that contains a food ingredient at or below the level and for a use found to be safe, or agricultural chemical or environmental contaminant at or below the level found to be safe, by the Food and Drug Administration or approved by the Environmental Protection Agency or the Food Safety and Inspection Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture.

At this time, UWG is NOT implementing exemptions in Categories 7 and 8.

Human subjects research studies that qualify for exemption are exempt from the requirements of 45 CFR part 46. However, if an investigator decides to modify an exempt human subjects research project those modifications must be submitted to the IRB for a re-determination of exempt status prior to initiating changes to the research.

Expedited Review

Federal regulations permit an expedited review procedure for protocols that meet certain eligibility requirements. Such reviews may be carried out by the Chair of the IRB or by one or more experienced reviewers. Members of the board are designated experienced reviewers by the IRB Chair. The IRB Administrator will disseminate applications to members for review. In performing expedited reviews reviewers may exercise all the authorities of the Board except for disapproval. A research project may be disapproved only after full Board review as described in the next section. The Board shall be informed of all expedited reviews at its next full meeting. Submissions for Expedited Review should be made using Application for Review of Human Participant Research and must include specific permissible category justifying the expedited review.

Research activities that present no more than minimal risk (see glossary) to human subjects, and involve only procedures listed in one or more of the <u>DHHS designated Expedited Review Categories</u>, may be reviewed by the IRB through the expedited review procedure. The activities detailed below should not be deemed to be of minimal risk simply because they are included on this list. Inclusion merely means that the activity is eligible for review through the expedited review procedure when the specific circumstances of the proposed research involve no more than minimal risk to human subjects.

The expedited review procedure may not be used where identification of the subjects and/or their responses would reasonably place them at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, insurability, or reputation, or be stigmatizing, unless reasonable and appropriate protections will be implemented so that risks related to invasion of privacy and breach of confidentiality are no greater than minimal.

The expedited review procedure may not be used for classified research involving human subjects. The standard requirements for informed consent (or its waiver, alteration, or exception) apply regardless of the type of review used by the IRB — expedited or full. The categories in this list apply regardless of the age of subjects, except as noted. Categories one 1-7 pertain to both initial and continuing IRB review.

Expedited Categories

Federal regulations allow nine specific categories of human participant research to be reviewed through an Expedited Review Procedure. Per 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110, the research should present no more than minimal risk to human participants and involve only procedures listed in one or more of the following categories:

- 1. Clinical studies of drugs and medical devices only when condition (a) or (b) is met.
 - a. Research on drugs for which an investigational new drug application (21 CFR Part 312) is not required.
 - b. Research on medical devices for which (i) an investigational device exemption application (21 CFR Part 812) is not required; or (ii) the medical device is cleared/approved for marketing and the medical device is being used in accordance with its cleared/approved labeling.
- 2. Collection of blood samples by finger stick, heel stick, ear stick, or venipuncture as follows:

- a. From healthy, non-pregnant adults who weigh at least 110 pounds. For these participants, the amounts drawn may not exceed 550 ml in an 8 week period and collection may not occur more frequently than 2 times per week; or
- b. From other adults and children1 considering the age, weight, and health of the participants, the collection procedure, the amount of blood to be collected, and the frequency with which it will be collected. For these participants, the amount drawn may not exceed the lesser of 50 ml or 3 ml per kg in an 8 week period and collection may not occur more frequently than 2 times per week.
- 3. Prospective collection of biological specimens for research purposes by noninvasive means. Examples: (a) Hair and nail clippings in a non-disfiguring manner; (b) deciduous teeth at time of exfoliation or if routine patient care indicates a need for extraction; (c) permanent teeth if routine patient care indicates a need for extraction; (d) excreta and external secretions (including sweat); (e) uncannulated saliva collected either in an unstimulated fashion or stimulated by chewing gumbase or wax or by applying a dilute citric solution to the tongue; (f) placenta removed at delivery; (g) amniotic fluid obtained at the time of rupture of the membrane prior to or during labor; (h) supra- and subgingival dental plaque and calculus, provided the collection procedure is not more invasive than routine prophylactic scaling of the teeth and the process is accomplished in accordance with accepted prophylactic techniques; (i) mucosal and skin cells collected by buccal scraping or swab, skin swab, or mouth washings; (j) sputum collected after saline mist nebulization.
- 4. Collection of data through noninvasive procedures (not involving general anesthesia or sedation) routinely employed in clinical practice, excluding procedures involving x-rays or microwaves. Where medical devices are employed, they must be cleared/approved for marketing. (Studies intended to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of the medical devices are not generally eligible for expedited review, including studies of cleared medical devices for new indications.) Examples: (a) Physical sensors that are applied either to the surface of the body or at a distance and do not involve input of significant amounts of energy into the participant or an invasion of the participant's privacy; (b) weighing or testing sensory acuity; (c) magnetic resonance imaging; (d) electrocardiography, electroretinography, ultrasound, diagnostic infrared imaging, doppler blood flow, and echocardiography; (e) moderate exercise, muscular strength testing, body composition assessment, and flexibility testing where appropriate given the age, weight, and health of the individual.
- Research involving materials (data, documents, records, or specimens) that have been collected or will be collected solely for nonresearch purposes (such as medical treatment or diagnosis). (Note: Some research in this category may be exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human participants. 45 CFR 46.101(b)(4). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)
- 6. Collection of data from voice, video, digital, or image recordings made for research purposes.

- 7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies. (Note: Some research in this category may be exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human participants 45 CFR 46.101 (b)(2) and (b)(3). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)
- 8. Continuing review of research previously approved by the convened IRB as follows:
 - a. Where (i) the research is permanently closed to the enrollment of new participants; (ii) all participants have completed all research-related interventions; and (iii) the research remains active only for long-term follow-up of participants; or
 - b. Where no participants have been enrolled and no additional risks have been identified; or
 - c. Where the remaining research activities are limited to data analysis.
- 9. Continuing review of research, not conducted under an investigational new drug application or investigational device exemption where categories two (2) through eight (8) do not apply but the IRB has determined and documented at a convened meeting that the research involves no greater than minimal risk and no additional risks have been identified.

Applications submitted as Expedited are reviewed as they are received. Review time is dependent upon the completeness of the application and the case load of the IRB. Unless continuing review is required, the IRB approval date will expire at the stated project end date. If a project is to extend past the original project end date, a study modification must be submitted.

Full Board Review

Full board review must take place for all protocols that do not qualify as "exempt" or "expedited", or as otherwise specified by the Board. A quorum of IRB members will review submissions at a regularly convened meeting. The application process remains the same as for the other levels of review, but investigators should note that a Full Review can take up to two months from the time of submission. Initial Full Review may not result in an outright approval of the research; minor or major revisions and written clarifications are often requested.

Continuing Review of Research

Federal regulations require that the Board conduct continuing review of approved expedited and full board approved proposals at least once per year or determined more frequent based on degree of risk. Continuing review is required unless an IRB determines otherwise, continuing review of research is not required in the following circumstances:

a. Research eligible for expedited review in accordance with <u>§46.110</u>;
(ii) Research reviewed by the IRB in accordance with the limited IRB review described in <u>§46.104(d)(2)(iii)</u>, (d)(3)(i)(C), (d)(7), or (d)(8);

(iii) Research that has progressed to the point that it involves only one or both of the following, which are part of the IRB-approved study:

 Data analysis, including analysis of identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens, or
 (B) Accessing follow-up clinical data from procedures that subjects would undergo as part of clinical care.

When continuing review is required, the IRB should confirm that the information provided by the investigator at the time of continuing review is consistent with the research protocol previously approved by the IRB. If this information suggests that the investigator is not conducting the research in accordance with either the IRB-approved protocol or the requirements or determinations of the IRB, the IRB should either defer re-approving the research or re-approve the research for a limited period of time (e.g., one month) and seek an explanation from the investigator regarding the apparent discrepancies.

Rules and procedures for conducting initial full board review will be in effect for full board continuing review. A research study that was eligible for initial review under an expedited review procedure will usually qualify for an expedited review procedure at the time of continuing review if required by the IRB.

Lapsed Approval

In the case that documents are not submitted in time to complete the continuing review process or study modification review prior to the expiration of IRB approval, the approval lapses. All research activity involving human subjects must stop immediately when IRB approval lapses.

Research may continue once the review process has been completed and the IRB has re-approved the protocol. During the IRB meeting the IRB minutes should document why the lapse in approval occurred and any corrective actions being taken to prevent repeated instances of IRB approval lapsing.

D. Monitoring and Oversight

Continuing Oversight

IRB approval of the project does not end its overseeing of the project.

Modification to approved project

Modification is defined as a material change to a protocol from what was previously approved during the period for which approval was given. Changes in research procedures, the informed consent process, and/or the consent/assent document cannot be initiated by the investigator without IRB review and approval, except where necessary to eliminate apparent immediate hazards to the subject. Should protocol changes be made without prior IRB approval to eliminate apparent hazards to the subject(s), submit a memorandum immediately to the IRB addressing the nature of the change, why it was necessary, and the outcome.

Approval of the modification request is on the advice of the IRB chairperson or a designated reviewer unless the nature of the proposed changes warrants review by the full IRB. If subjects have been enrolled, the IRB may determine the modification relates to subjects' willingness to continue

to participate in the research, and request that the PI relay pertinent information to subjects. The investigator is notified in writing of the IRB's decision.

Unanticipated problems, noncompliance, reports of harm

It is the investigator's responsibility to report to the Board any proposed changes in the research as well as any unanticipated problems that arise involving risk to subjects. Any complaints or concerns by research subjects, university faculty, staff, or students, or members of the community should be addressed using the following procedure. In addition, any reports made directly to the IRB administrator or the ORSP will be routed in the following manner:

- 1. The PI
- 2. IRB Administrator
- 3. Chair of the IRB
- 4. The Director of Research & Sponsored Projects
- 5. The PIs Chair

Assurance of Confidentiality

Appropriate routing of relevant information and communication is critical in successful resolution of these issues. The goal is to protect subject rights or whistleblower rights, and at the same time maintain confidentiality. As such, the following protocol should be followed whenever there is an awareness of such a situation by the UWG administration, faculty, and/or staff: The following individuals should be notified in the order listed above prior to any action taken or contact with the subject.

It is imperative that all parties maintain absolute confidentiality of the subject's identity in communications; subject identifying information should only be included when absolutely necessary to resolve conflicts.

Complaint Resolution

Once notified of a complaint regarding the research, the PI shall report to the Chair of the IRB, and to the IRB Administrator regarding the issue/complaint and options for successful resolution. These parties shall collaborate to resolve the issue successfully. Once the issue is resolved, The Vice President for Innovation & Research and the PI's Chair will be notified of the outcome.

If deemed necessary, the IRB Chair or IRB Administrator may determine that reconsideration of the protocol by the full Board is warranted. If such a determination is made, the procedures governing initial review of protocols will be utilized.

If at any time, the Board becomes aware of:

- 1. unanticipated problems involving risks to subjects,
- 2. other serious or continuing noncompliance with 45 CFR 46 or determinations of the Board, including ongoing human subject research which has not been reviewed by the Board,
- 3. deviation from activities previously approved by the IRB, or
- 4. report of harm, illness, or any other adverse condition possibly occurring as a result of the study,

it may request a meeting with the PI and/or suspend the research until the problem can be further evaluated. In these circumstances, the Board may impose sanctions on an individual by suspending the individual's right to conduct or supervise research involving human subjects, taking possession of the data collected by the non-compliant individual, withholding or revoking academic credit to a student researcher, and recommending discipline of a faculty member by the University. This list is provided by way of example only, and is not intended and should not be construed as exhaustive, in that individual situations may call for specific actions and remedies not identified herein.

Under these circumstances, letters will be immediately sent, by the IRB Administrator, to the Authorized Institutional Official, College Dean, OHRP, and sponsoring agency. Reporting of any further sanctions subsequently recommended by the Board will be sent by the IRB administrator within 24 hours of being advised by the Board.

Verification of Information

At times the IRB may need verification that no material changes have occurred since previous IRB review, from sources other than the investigator. This determination can be made in situations where:

- 1. The IRB doubts the veracity of the information provided by the investigator.
- 2. The information provided by the investigator is internally inconsistent and the inconsistency cannot be resolved through discussion with the investigator.
- 3. The information provided by the investigator is inconsistent with other information known to the IRB and the inconsistency cannot be resolved through discussion with the investigator.
- 4. Complaints from research participants that appear not to be adequately addressed by the investigator
- 5. The investigator has been found to be in serious or continuing noncompliance in the previous year.
- 6. Studies have an unusually high dropout rate
- 7. Any other situation where the IRB requests verification from sources other than the investigator that no material changes have occurred since previous IRB review.

The IRB, with the assistance of the Vice President for Innovation & Research, must determine the method of verification from other sources to ensure that no unapproved changes have occurred since the previous IRB review. This may be accomplished by:

- 1. Conducting audits or inquiries to collect information, and/or
- 2. Having the IRB or its designee observe the informed consent process and conduct of the research, and/or
- 3. Examining contents of manuscripts or reports resulting from protocol activities.

Study Closure

Closure can happen for 3 reasons: (a) voluntary completion by PI, (b) termination by IRB, and (c) expiration of approval period.

F. Human Subject Research without Prior IRB review

No research involving human subjects is to be conducted without IRB review. Any reports of human subject research without prior review by the IRB, whether reported by the PI, other faculty,

administrators, staff, students, or subjects will be investigated. Any reports will be sent immediately to the IRB Chair and to the Vice President for Innovation & Research.

Determination of Alleged Infractions

The IRB Administrator will interview the investigator to gather additional information to determine if any University rules or policy have been violated. If it is determined that no infractions have occurred, no further action will be taken. If it is determined that University rules or policy have been violated, the PI and the PIs Department Chair will be immediately notified in writing what procedures must be followed to comply with University policy regarding human subject research.

The following actions will be taken:

- 1. Non-approved Exempt research: The PI is required to immediately suspend all research activity. For research to continue, the PI must submit an application to the IRB within 7 days. If the research will not be continued, the PI will submit a report documenting the research that was done without IRB approval. This documentation should include a description of the research protocol, number of subjects involved, and any results of the study. No data collected during unapproved research may be used for publications or presentations.
- 2. Non-approved non-exempt research: The PI is required to immediately suspend all research activity. For research to continue, the PI must submit an application to the IRB within 7 days. The IRB application will be handled in according to normal IRB procedures. The minutes of the IRB meeting will reflect that the application was submitted as a result of determination by the IRB that he PI had been conducting human subject research without IRB approval. If the research will not be continued, the PI will submit a report documenting the research that was done without IRB approval. This documentation should include a description of the research protocol, number of subjects involved, and any results of the study.

If the investigator fails to submit an application or report within the designated time, the IRB will send a written report, including description of the IRB actions to the Department Chair or next higher level of administrative authority for appropriate action within 3 days. Failure of the department chair to act or comply is reported to the Vice President for Innovation & Research with a recommendation for appropriate actions.

Determination of an alleged repeated infraction of Institutional Policy

The procedures outlined in "Determination of Alleged Infractions" above will apply for a repeated alleged infraction. If determined by the IRB Chair and IRB Administrator that a second or additional infraction has occurred, the IRB will promptly notify the Vice President for Innovation & Research and the Department Chair, with the recommendation that the investigator's privilege to do research be suspended at once, if a funding agency is involved that they be notified of the suspension.

G. Evaluating Investigator and Institutional Issues

When appropriate, the reviewing IRB should consider issues regarding the investigator and the institution(s) where the research is being conducted during its continuing review, such as the following:

- Changes in the investigator's situation or qualifications (e.g., suspension of hospital privileges, change in medical license status, or increase in number of research studies conducted by the investigator);
- Evaluation, investigation, and resolution of any complaints related to the investigator's conduct of the research;
- Changes in the acceptability of the proposed research in terms of institutional commitments (e.g., personnel and financial resources, adequacy of facilities) and applicable regulations, State and local law, or standards of professional conduct or practice; and
- Reports from any third party observations of the research carried out under 45 CFR 46.109(e).

Failure by the investigator to initiate this annual review prior to the expiration date of the approval shall result in immediate termination of the research.

H. Investigator's Right of Appeal

It is the policy of The University of West Georgia that the final decision regarding approval or disapproval of all protocols rests with the IRB. In accordance with federal regulations, no research involving human subjects may be conducted under The University of West Georgia's auspices without the prior and continuing approval of the Board. Any investigator who disagrees with a decision of the Board may request a hearing before the duly-convened IRB to appeal its decision. Relevant arguments and/or witnesses may be presented on behalf of the investigator. The investigator may also request that the Authorized Institutional Official be informed of the appeal. However, final decision rests with the Board.

I. Student Research and Faculty Responsibility

Research conducted by students, such as thesis research and some class projects, requires the approval of the IRB prior to execution. It is the responsibility of faculty supervising research by students or staff to ensure that approval of the Board is obtained. Individual projects conducted primarily for instructional purposes within the context of a formal class, and **not designed to contribute to generalizable knowledge** do not meet the definition of "research" as defined in the federal guidelines. Thus, they do not require review by the Board, provided the instructor is prepared to accept professional and ethical responsibility for all research projects conducted in conjunction with the class. Under these conditions, a single form (UWG Classroom Research Form) may be submitted for the class assignment. The instructor is responsible for completing CITI training and instructing all students in proper protection of human subjects, federal regulations, and ethical standards. Faculty are also responsible for monitoring the ethical propriety of these projects and applying the criteria listed in this document.

1) Faculty members conducting class-based activities involving human subjects should request IRB review of the activities. In most cases, this can be accomplished by submitting a single request for IRB review of the class project.

- 2) Students who are conducting human subject research that will likely be incorporated in a thesis or dissertation project should submit a request for IRB review.
- 3) Engaging in human subject research without IRB approval has serious ethical implications and violates university and federal policies. When there is a chance of public dissemination (i.e. presentation/publication outside of the university) the instructor should advise students to apply for IRB approval of their specific project if the project contributes to generalizable knowledge and does know apply strictly to the setting in which the study was conducted. Data collected during classroom assignments without IRB approval may not be used for publication or presentation to professional audiences. This data may not be used for thesis or dissertation work.

Student submissions for IRB approval will follow the formal initial and continuing review processes and procedures and must be submitted to the IRB by the responsible faculty member. Faculty advisor responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- 1) Collaborate with student PIs during the preparation of the IRB application to ensure the proposed research complies with the ethical principles outlined in the Belmont Report, human subject research regulations including 45 CFR 46, internal policies, and other applicable federal or state laws,
- 2) Ensure the application is complete, detailed, and all required components are attached (recruiting materials, consent forms, data collection instruments, site letters),
- 3) Monitor research progress and ensure data security and confidentiality are maintained,
- 4) Ensure student PIs submit any necessary Study Modification Forms, promptly report any adverse events, protocol deviations, or other unanticipated problems involving risks to participants or others and other reportable events to the IRB in a timely manner,
- 5) Ensure a Research Completion Form is be submitted to the IRB upon completion of the research.

Students conducting research that involve human subjects are also required to complete CITI training. Faculty who teach Research Methodology courses may also use CITI training for students in their classes.

J. Considerations for Special Populations

A. Research involving pregnant women, human fetuses, or neonates

For research involving pregnant women, fetuses, or neonates the IRB will approve the conduct of the research only if it finds that the research meets the regulatory criteria for approval addressed under the federal regulations at 45 CFR 46 Subpart B (45 CFR 46.204, "Research involving pregnant women or fetuses prior to delivery"; 45 CFR 46.205, "Research involving neonates"; 45 CFR 46.206, "Research involving, after delivery, the placenta, the dead fetus, or fetal material").

For research that does not meet the criteria for approval addressed under 45 CFR 46.204, "Research involving pregnant women or fetuses prior to delivery"; 45 CFR 46.205, "Research involving fetuses after delivery"; or 45 CFR 46.206, "Research involving, after delivery, the placenta, the dead fetus, or fetal material," the IRB must find that:

- the research presents an opportunity to understand, prevent, or alleviate a serious problem affecting the health or welfare of pregnant women or fetuses; and
- the research, if federally supported, will be submitted for review and approval by the Secretary, DHHS, in accordance with the provisions of 45 CFR 46.207, "Research not otherwise approvable which presents an opportunity to understand, prevent, or alleviate a serious problem affecting the health or welfare of pregnant women or fetuses". If the research study is not federally-supported, the IRB will use a review by a panel of obstetrician/ gynecology experts (2 members with expertise in the area who are not currently IRB members) and an ethicist to recommend whether to approve the study as research that presents an opportunity to understand, prevent, or alleviate a serious problem affecting the health or welfare of pregnant women or fetuses.

B. Research involving prisoners

The IRB will document and maintain records in meeting minutes regarding research involving prisoners. The special vulnerability of prisoners makes consideration of involving them as research subjects particularly important. Prisoners may be under constraints because of their incarceration, which could affect their ability to make a truly voluntary and un-coerced decision whether or not to participate as subjects in research. Research involving prisoners will be reviewed and approved in accordance with the criteria of <u>45 CFR 46 Subparts C</u>. At least one member of the IRB reviewing the application must be a prisoner representative.

Consent forms for studies involving prisoners as subjects must state that participation will not affect the prisoner's probation, parole, or treatment at the facility. The contact information in consent forms must be appropriate for that population and must include mailing addresses.

Measures to be Taken When a Current Research Participant Becomes a Prisoner

If a participant becomes incarcerated after enrolling in a research study, the Investigator must report this event immediately to the IRB in writing. This is not required if the study was previously approved by the IRB for prisoner participation.

The full, convened IRB will review the current research protocol in which the participant is enrolled, taking into special consideration the additional ethical and regulatory concerns for a prisoner involved in research.

C. Research involving children

The IRB will document and maintain records in meeting minutes regarding research involving children. The consent document (or parental permission document) should be fully informative, reflect information conveyed verbally about the study, and be written in a language and at readability level appropriate for the participant or parent. An 8th grade reading level is recommended for the general population. Most word processing packages can assess the readability of a document.

Unless the IRB has waived any or all of the elements of consent required by Federal regulations, the following elements must be explained verbally and must be included in the consent form. These elements are:

- 1. A statement that the study involves research, an explanation of the purposes of the research and the expected duration of the individual's participation, a description of the procedures to be followed, and identification of any procedures which are experimental;
- 2. A description of any reasonably foreseeable risks or discomforts to the participant;
- 3. A description of any benefits to the participant or to others which may reasonably be expected from the research;
- 4. A disclosure of appropriate alternative procedures or courses of treatment, if any, that might be advantageous to the participant;
- 5. A statement describing the extent, if any, to which confidentiality of records identifying the participant will be maintained;
- 6. For research involving more than minimal risk, an explanation as to whether any compensation will be provided for participation and an explanation as to whether any medical treatments are available if injury occurs and, if so, what they consist of, or where further information may be obtained;
- An explanation of whom to contact for answers to pertinent questions about the research and research participants' rights, and whom to contact in the event of a research-related injury to the participant; and
- 8. A statement that participation is voluntary, refusal to participate will involve no loss of rights, benefits, or services to which the participant is otherwise entitled, and the participant may discontinue participation at any time without loss of rights, benefits, or services to which he/she is otherwise entitled.

Use of the Parental Permission and Child Assent Forms ensures that all of the required elements of consent are addressed. To aid in efficient protocol review, the paragraph titles in the model consent documents should be retained. If the consent or permission form is more than one page, an area in the lower right hand corner of every page should be included for the participant's or parent's initials.

A copy of the consent document should be provided to the participant or parent; he/she does not need to sign the copy. The original consent/permission form should be stored in a secure location separate from data collected about participants and retained for at least three years (or longer if required by an external funding agency).

Child Assent

When the participants in non-exempt research are between the ages of 5-18, the IRB requires a participant assent process after parental permission has been granted.

Ages 5-12. This assent script should be modified as necessary so that it can be easily understood by the particular participant population. Children in the 5-13 age range must give affirmative assent to participate. The lack of a negative reply is not sufficient to assume assent. Unless otherwise specified by the IRB, the child's signature indicating assent is optional.

Ages 13-18: The Informed Consent normally used for adults may be modified and used as an assent form for children ages 13-18. A signature should be obtained from those minor participants who are 13 and older.

Under 5 Years of Age: Unless specifically required by the IRB during its protocol review and approval process, no formal assent process is required for children under 5 years of age. As appropriate, the researcher may ask the child if he/she wishes to play a game or complete some other activity, but, generally speaking, these young children exhibit their assent or refusal to participate through their behavior.

Children who do not assent should never be forced or coerced by their parents or the researcher to participate unless the study is providing some direct benefit to the child that cannot be attained through any other means. This type of situation rarely occurs in social/behavioral research.

When a consent form requires the signatures of research subjects and/or their parents or legal guardians, a copy of the signed form must be given to the subject/parent/guardian and a copy must be retained by the researcher for a minimum of three years after completion of the project. The IRB may waive the requirement for the investigator to obtain a signed consent form for some or all subjects as described in 45 CFR Part 46.117.

For exempt research, the researcher is expected to provide information to prospective subjects about the research. This information should include:

- 1. A statement of the purpose of the research
- 2. An explanation of the procedures of the study
- 3. Details of any foreseeable risks, benefits and compensation
- 4. A clear explanation that participation is voluntary and that no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled will occur should the subject either refuse to participate or decide to discontinue participation (at any time).
- 5. Contact information for the investigator and faculty advisor if the investigator is a student.

In some cases, it may not be practical to provide this information to prospective subjects. In these cases of exempt research, investigators should provide an explanation of why it is impractical to provide this information to potential subjects to the IRB Administrators.

IV. Informed Consent Guidelines

Informed consent constitutes the very essence of protecting the rights of subjects. Obtaining the informed consent of a potential human subject (or the subject's legally authorized representative) for participation in non-exempt research is a federally mandated safeguard to ensure the protection of the rights and welfare of all individual subjects. The IRB will carefully review the proposed method for obtaining informed consent and the content of the document prepared for participants' signatures.

A. Elements of Informed Consent

For research that is not exempt from IRB review, the informed consent form must include the following information:

- The title of the study, information on the purpose(s) of the research, a description of the method(s) and procedure(s) to be followed, including the intention to publish or disseminate the results of the study, and the amount of time the subject will spend in actual project participation.
- 2. A description of any reasonably foreseeable risks or discomforts to the subject, including expected total time of participation. If disguised or deceptive procedures are to be used, a plan to debrief participants must be explained to the IRB.
- 3. A description of any benefits to the subject or to others as a result of the information obtained from the research.
- 4. A disclosure of appropriate alternative procedures that may be advantageous to the subject when making an informed decision whether or not to participate in the research (this pertains primarily to medical research and drug trials).
- 5. A description of the measures to be taken to insure the confidentiality of data and the anonymity of individual subjects, if applicable, as well as any circumstances under which confidentiality CANNOT be guaranteed.
- 6. The name and phone number of a contact person(s) who will be available to answer any questions the subject or his/her legally authorized representative may have regarding the research (student investigators must include the name, address, and phone number of his/her faculty supervisor), and "Questions regarding the protection of human subjects may be addressed to the IRB Administrator, Research and Sponsored Projects, The University of West Georgia, Carrollton, GA 30118, (678) 839-4749, irb@westga.edu."
- 7. A clear explanation that participation is voluntary and that no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled will occur should the subject either refuse to participate or decide to discontinue participation (at any time).
- 8. Disclosure of costs to the subject, if any, because of his/her participation in the research; disclosure of compensation/reward to the subject, if any, for his/her participation in the research.
- 9. For projects of more than minimal risk to subjects, a statement must be included that describes how the costs of medical care or other therapies required as a result of injury or mishap incurred while participating in the research will be handled. The Consent Form should also include information about the availability and extent of on-site medical treatment should an injury occur.
- 10. The approval and expiration date for the consent form once approval of the project has been granted.
- 11. The consent form must not include a statement releasing the investigator, sponsor, institution or its agents from liability or negligence.
- 12. One of the following statements about any research that involves the collection of identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens:
 - A statement that identifiers might be removed from the identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens and that, after such removal, the information or biospecimens could be used for future research studies or distributed to another

investigator for future research studies without additional informed consent from the subject or the legally authorized representative, if this might be a possibility; or

• A statement that the subject's information or biospecimens collected as part of the research, even if identifiers are removed, will not be used or distributed for future research studies.

These requirements are not intended to preempt applicable federal, state, or local laws which require additional information to be disclosed in order to be legally effective. The consent form shall document that the subject understands the information contained therein, and has had an opportunity to have any of his/her questions answered.

B. Procedure to waive signed consent

The IRB meeting minutes will document any approval to the consent procedure which does not include or alters the required elements of informed consent based on the following conditions being satisfied:

- 1. The research involves no more than minimal risk to the subjects;
- 2. The waiver or alteration will not adversely affect the rights and welfare of the subjects;
- 3. The research could not practicably be carried out without the waiver or alteration; and
- 4. Whenever appropriate, the subjects will be provided with additional pertinent information after participation.

The IRB may waive some or all of the elements of informed consent provided the IRB finds:

- The research is conducted by, or subject to the approval of state or local government officials and is designed to study or examine: a) public benefit or service programs; b) procedures for obtaining benefits or services under those programs; c) possible changes or alternatives to those programs; or, d) possible changes in methods or levels of payment for benefits or services under those programs; and
- 2. The research could not practicably be carried out without the waiver or alteration.

Waiver of Parental Permission:

Federal regulations provide the four basic criteria for waivers of any of all of the elements of informed consent. The same criteria apply to waivers of parental permission (and also to child assent). In order to waive or alter any or all of the elements of informed consent, the **IRB must find and document that all** of the following criteria have been met:

- 1. the research involves no more than minimal risk to the subjects;
- 2. the waiver or alteration will not adversely affect the rights and welfare of the subjects;
- the research could not practically be carried out without the waiver or alteration (inconvenience and expense are not acceptable factors - scientific validity would be acceptable);
- 4. whenever appropriate, the subjects will be provided with additional pertinent information after participation.

V. The Institutional Review Board Management and Responsibilities

A. Membership

The Board shall consist of a minimum of five members, including

- 1. One member whose primary concern is in a scientific area
- 2. One member whose primary concern is in a nonscientific are
- 3. One member who has no affiliation with The University of West Georgia
- 4. Additional members to insure ethical treatment of subjects IRB Administrator, ex officio

The regular members will be appointed by the Vice President for Innovation & Research for a term of three years which may be extended by mutual consent. The Board will report to the Authorized Institutional Official, the Vice President for Innovation & Research. The Vice President for Innovation & Research of the University shall designate the Chair of the IRB.

Use of Consultants.

Assigned reviews may determine that there is insufficient expertise on the IRB to assess the risks or the benefits. The IRB may ask for an expert consultant. This person will advise the Board but will not vote on the IRB application.

Conflicts of Interest.

No IRB member participates (other than to provide requested information) in the initial or continuing review of any protocol in which they have a conflicting interest. This includes review of any material submitted over the course of the study or the duration of the member's term.

If a member has a conflict, that member must excuse himself/herself from the deliberation, discussion, and vote on that study takes place. Unless requested to remain in order to provide additional information, it is expected that the member will leave the room until after the vote is taken.

Absence from the vote is noted in the minutes.

Members may not vote or review where...

- 1. Supervise or advise the investigator or co-investigator
- 2. Serve as co-investigator
- 3. Benefit from conduct of study
- 4. Subject of study
- 5. Self-identify conflict of interest

B. IRB Meetings and Deadlines

The UWG IRB will meet during second (2nd) week of each month, the meeting schedule is available on the IRB website. Proposals for Full Board review are due to the Office of Research & Sponsored Operation the first day of each month. The ORSP staff will forward electronic documents to IRB members. IRB members will receive copies of all documents in proposals for full Board review one week prior to the scheduled meeting date. Proposals for exempt or expedited review will be reviewed by the IRB administrator and processed as they are received. IRB meetings will be held in the Conference Room of the Office of Research & Sponsored Projects or virtually as needed to ensure full participation of committee members.

Voting

Initial and continuing reviews of research will be conducted at meetings of the IRB convened monthly. In order to conduct business, a majority of the members must be present, including at least one member who represents the nonscientific community. This constitutes a quorum. Expedited reviews can be performed as described above in the absence of an IRB meeting. Tele/video conferencing may be used for any members to participate in the meeting, and they shall be counted toward the quorum. Approval of research is by a majority vote of the quorum. Should a quorum be lost during a meeting, the IRB may not take further action or vote until the quorum has been restored.

Review of proposed protocol changes will be conducted at IRB meetings with a quorum present, except where expedited review is appropriate. Minor changes in previously approved research can be approved under an expedited review procedure as above. Any revisions to a protocol should be incorporated into the written protocol with the revision dates noted on the protocol itself.

Minutes

Minutes of each IRB meeting shall document the deliberations, actions, and votes for each protocol whether undergoing initial or continuing review. Votes shall be recorded as the number "For", "Opposed", and/or "Abstaining", the votes of individual members are not recorded in the minutes. Any unusual degree of risk or an approval period less than one year shall be documented explicitly in the minutes. Review and action taken on items of expedited review will be recorded in the minutes, including specific permissible category on which the decision was made.

In order to encourage open and frank discussion at IRB meetings and to have detailed records of IRB business (including confidential issues and matters under investigation), minutes of the IRB normally are not made available to others outside University of West Georgia administration unless otherwise required by law or external regulations.

Record Retention

IRB records will be retained for at least three years including complete protocol files, all correspondence between the PI, IRB, and IRB administrator, and records relating to research that is conducted will be retained for at least three years after completion of the research. Per Georgia Board of Regents retention schedules, Minutes of IRB meetings will be retained for 5 years. All records will be accessible for inspection and copying by authorized representatives of UWG administration, HHS, FDA, and other regulatory agencies and sponsors at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner.

Complete protocol files will include:

- 1. Copies of all research proposals reviewed, scientific evaluations, if any, that accompany the proposals, approved sample consent documents, progress reports submitted by investigators, and reports of injuries to subjects
- 2. Records of continuing review activities
- 3. copies of all correspondence between the IRB and the investigators
- 4. statements of significant new findings provided to subjects.

C. IRB Reporting Structure

The IRB functions administratively through the Office of Research & Sponsored Projects, reporting directly to the Vice President for Innovation & Research. This structure provides for administrative coordination for the IRB with the various academic and administrative units at the University of West Georgia.

The IRB advises and makes recommendations to the Vice President for Innovation & Research, to policy and administrative bodies, and to any member of the West Georgia university community on all matters related to the use of human subjects in research.

D. Responsibilities of the IRB

- 1. Members of the IRB are required to complete CITI training and to keep abreast of applicable federal regulations and policies, state laws, and UWG policies that pertain to human subject protection
- 2. Participate in all IRB discussions and committee business
- 3. Review expedited protocols within 10 business days of receipt. (Notify ORSP if planning to be out of town for more than a couple of days)
- 4. Maintain confidentiality of documents submitted for review. Personal, confidential, and proprietary information may not be disclosed to anyone outside of the IRB.

Responsibilities of the IRB Administrator & Staff

Appropriately trained IRB staff members, regardless of whether they are members of the IRB, may perform preliminary reviews of documents and complete IRB files in order to facilitate the review of research by the IRB. As part of this preliminary review, IRB staff may perform the following functions, among others:

- 1. Confirm that all documents required by the IRB have been submitted by the investigator;
- Assess whether the information and documents submitted by the investigator for Continuing Review are consistent with the research protocol previously approved by the IRB;
- 3. Confirm that the informed consent document submitted by the investigator matches the current IRB-approved informed consent document;
- 4. Aid the IRB in identifying important issues and concerns that the IRB may wish to consider; and
- 5. Provide technical assistance and guidance to the IRB at convened meetings and to the IRB chairperson (or designated IRB member(s)) during an expedited review process.

6. IRB staff members who are *not* IRB members may not be delegated responsibility for making the determinations that must be made by the IRB for exempt review or at the time of continuing and may not approve research on behalf of the IRB (45 CFR 46.109).

The IRB Administrator serves as the Institution's Human Protections Administrator, the primary contact for investigators and administration at UWG. Administrative responsibilities fall into three categories: IRB Communication and Education, Record Keeping and Reporting, and Monitoring and Oversight. Responsibilities of the IRB Administrator include:

- 1. Maintain UWG's Federalwide Assurance (FWA) and ensure compliance with its terms, as well as UWG policies and procedures, federal regulations, and state and local laws relative to the conduct of human research studies.
- 2. Provide guidance regarding the interpretation of regulations, laws, and policies to the IRBs, researchers, staff, and administrators.
- 3. Develop and implement UWG human research protection policies and procedures.
- 4. Oversee and coordinate Human Research Protection Program (HRPP) activities across the various offices and staff that have roles in protecting research participants.
- 5. Complete all required human research protection training and HIPAA training.
- 6. Ensure that human research protection training is available and completed by investigators, key study personnel, the Institutional Signatory Official, and all UWG staff who participate in human subjects research.
- 7. Oversee the quality assurance monitoring of the HRPP, including research protocols and investigation of matters of non-compliance. Ensure implementation of corrective action, as needed, in accordance with UWG policies and IRB policies and procedures.
- 8. Maintain current knowledge of human research protection guidance and regulations as they evolve. Stay current on emerging issues. Monitor federal regulatory websites and other research-related resources so as to stay current with regulatory changes in human research protections guidelines and policies. Communicate pertinent information in a timely manner.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Anonymity- means that the identity of a subject cannot be matched to his/her response.

Confidentiality- refers to the treatment of individual information gathered during the conduct of the research. An individual discloses information to the investigator with the expectation that the information will not be divulged to others in a manner inconsistent with the understanding of the original agreement.

Data Collection- refers to any research procedure that is intended to elicit from or record the actions, reactions, attitudes, and/or behavioral manifestations of subjects participating in a research project.

Exempt Research- refers to human subject research activities that fall into one or more of the federally defined <u>exempt research categories</u>. Exempt research does not mean the research protocols are exempt from IRB review, only that the research may not require a full IRB review, and may not be subject to other IRB requirements, such as annual reviews or informed consent. It is strongly suggested that informed consent be used whether required or not.

Expedited Review- refers to the review by the IRB Chair or designate of research proposals which involve minimal risk or no-risk.

Full IRB Review- refers to the review of proposals conducted during an IRB meeting at which a quorum has been established.

Human Subject- refers to a living individual about whom a researcher obtains either identifiable private information, or data through intervention and/or interaction with the individual.

Informed Consent- refers to the voluntary agreement by an individual or an individual's legally authorized representative to participate in a particular study without any element of force, fraud, deceit, duress, or any other form of constraint or coercion. Valid consent requires voluntary action, competence, informed decision, and comprehension of terminology.

Intervention- includes both physical procedures by which data are gathered (for example, venipuncture) and manipulations of the subject or the subject's environment that are performed for research purposes. Interaction includes communication or interpersonal contact between investigator and subject. *Private information* includes information about behavior that occurs in a context in which an individual can reasonably expect that no observation or recording is taking place, and information which has been provided for specific purposes by an individual and which the individual can reasonably expect will not be made public (for example, a medical record). Private information must be individually identifiable (i.e., the identity of the subject is or may readily be ascertained by the investigator or associated with the information) in order for obtaining the information to constitute research involving human subjects.

Institution- is defined in 45 CFR 46.102(b) as any public or private entity or agency (including federal, state, and other agencies).

For purposes of this document, an institution's *employees or agents* refers to individuals who: (1) act on behalf of the institution; (2) exercise institutional authority or responsibility; or (3) perform institutionally designated activities. "Employees and agents" can include staff, students, contractors, and volunteers, among others, regardless of whether the individual is receiving compensation.

Minimal Risk- means that the probability and magnitude of harm(s) or discomfort(s) anticipated in the research are not greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations.

Research- refers to a systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge. In other words, the IRB defines research as a systematic investigation (i.e. having or involving a system, method or plan) conducted to develop or contribute to knowledge about the human experience. It is understood that such research may be disseminated by publication or in a public or professional forum. In addition, based on the principle that the University of West Georgia IRB exists to protect the rights and safety of individuals who participate as research subjects in projects administered by university faculty, staff and students, the IRB will review protocols for projects involving interviews recorded for research purposes.

Vulnerable Populations- refers to subjects such as children, prisoners, pregnant persons, or any population that may be relatively or absolutely incapable of protecting their interests through the informed consent process.